
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF WISCONSIN 

 
 

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 

v. 

 
SEALED 
Case No.: 23-mj-25 

 

ARVIN RAJ MATHUR, 
 

Defendant. 
 
 

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF TITLE 18, UNITED STATES CODE, SECTION 875(c) 
 
 

BEFORE United States Magistrate Judge 
Stephen L. Crocker 

United States District Court 
120 North Hemy Street 
Madison, Wisconsin 53703 

 

The undersigned complainant being duly sworn states: 
 

On or about February 23, 2023, in the Western District and elsewhere, the 

defendant, 

ARVIN RAJ MATHUR, 
 

knowingly transmitted in interstate and foreign commerce communications containing 

threats to injure other persons. Specifically, MATHUR sent an email from outside of the 

United States to several individuals who reside in the State of Wisconsin threatening to 

injure them and others, for the purpose of issuing threats and with the knowledge that 

the communications would be viewed as threats. 

(In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 875(c)) 
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This complaint is based on the attached affidavit of Peter Grimyser 
 
 
 
 

 

 
n+ 

Sworn to telephonically this _'l  

Peter Grimyser 
Detective Sergeant, UW-Madison Police 
Department 

 
 
 

United States Magistrate Judge 

 
 
 

.CROCKER 
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COUNTY OF DANE ) 
) ss 

STATE OF WISCONSIN ) 
 

AFFIDAVIT 
 

I, Peter Grimyser, first being duly sworn under oath, hereby depose and state as 

follows: 

1. I am a Detective/Sergeant with the University of Wisconsin-Madison Police 
 
Department in Madison, Wisconsin and have been employed as a law enforcement officer 

since December 1999. My current job responsibilities include the investigation of state and 

federal criminal laws involving all types of crimes including threats to individuals and 

stalking. I have received formal training from the Wisconsin Department of Justice, as 

well as training through contact with experts from various law enforcement agencies and 

private entities like End Violence Against Women International (EVAWI) and the 

Association of Threat Assessment Professionals (ATAP). 

2. From June 2013 to December 2017, I was assigned to the Dane County 

Narcotics Task Force. During my career, I have participated in numerous drug 

investigations and search warrant executions. I have received specialized training and 

gained experience in the identification of habits and customs of individuals engaged in 

narcotics trafficking from past and present from Special Agents with the Drug 

Enforcement Administration and Special Agents with the Wisconsin Department of 

Justice, Division of Criminal Investigation as well as senior members of the Dane County 

Narcotics Task Force. I have received specialized training from sources outside the Dane 

County Narcotics Task Force from the Multijurisdictional Counterdrug Task Force, 

Milwaukee High Intensity Drug Trafficking Areas (HIDTA) Program which included 
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former agents of the U.S. Customs Service and the Internal Revenue Service, the U.S. 

Attorney's Office, and the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration. 

3. In 2016, in connection with Western District of Wisconsin case 15-CR-139- 
 

jdp, Judge James Peterson ruled that I intentionally withheld  material information  about 

a confidential informant in an affidavit in support of a drug search warrant.  (Docket  # 

66). Specifically, I did not disclose  that the confidential informant had been deactivated 

in 1998 because he or she had been deemed umeliable. Judge Peterson concluded that I 

did not intend to mislead the issuing judge in the sense that I sincerely believed  that the 

CI was credible about the issue in the search warrant.  However, Judge Peterson noted  

that withholding the adverse information was not my call to make and I should have 

disclosed it and allowed the judge to decide whether the CI was credible. Ultimately, 

Judge Peterson concluded that even if the omitted information would have been included 

in the affidavit, the affidavit would have still established probable cause. 

4. The facts in this affidavit are known to me through my personal knowledge, 

training, experience, and through information provided to me by other law enforcement 

officers in the course of their official duties, whom I consider truthful and reliable. This 

affidavit is intended to show merely that there is sufficient probable cause for the 

requested warrant and does not set forth all my knowledge about this matter. 

5. Based on my training and experience and the facts as set forth in this 

affidavit, there is probable cause to believe that Arvin Raj Mathur committed violations of 

Title 18, United States Code, Section 875(c) (interstate or foreign threat to injure). 

6. On December 14, 2022, VICTIM-1, a Graduate Student and Teaching 

Assistant in the Departments of Anthropology and Chemistry at the University of 
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Wisconsin-Madison reported he was concerned about Arvin Raj Mathur, who was a 

former graduate student in the Department of Anthropology at the University of 

Wisconsin-Madison and was harassing and defaming him since August 2022. 

7. VICTIM-I stated he was worried Arvin Mathur was fixated on him and was 

trying to ruin his professional reputation. VICTIM-I said Arvin Mathur had filed 

inaccurate reports about him with the Central Intelligence Agency, Federal Bureau of 

Investigation, and several foreign governments claiming that he was a "Chinese 

operative." VICTIM-I stated as part of his studies and work he has to travel to foreign 

countries to conduct research and these statements could put his life and profession in 

jeopardy. 
 

8. VICTIM-I said he first met Arvin Mathur at a conference, and in 2019 Arvin 

Mathur began to attend the University of Wisconsin-Madison in the aforementioned 

program. VICTIM-I stated that in 2020, Arvin Mathur began having negative interactions 

with fellow graduate students and his advisor. VICTIM-1 said at one point Arvin Mathur 

was harassing VICTIM-2, who was his advisor in the Anthropology Department at the 

University of Wisconsin-Madison. VICTIM-1 told me VICTIM-2 stopped being Arvin 

Mathur's advisor and in December 2021, Arvin Mathur formally left the University of 

Wisconsin. 
 

9. VICTIM-1 reported Arvin Mathur continued to send him harassing emails 

and harassing posts on his social media from August 2022 to January 2023. 

10. VICTIM-I  stated he believed Arvin Mathur was studying at the University 

of Copenhagen in Copenhagen, Denmark. I conducted an open source internet search for 

Arvin Mathur and I found that he appeared to attend the Globe Institute at the University 
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of Copenhagen in Copenhagen, Denmark https:/ / globe.ku.dk/ staff- 

list/ geobiology /?pure=en/ persons/761022. 

11. I reviewed biographical details for Arvin Mathur using a University of 
 
Wisconsin-Madison database and noted his UW-Madison email address was 

armathur@wisc.edu. The non-UW email address listed was arv.mathur@gmail.com. The 

cellular telephone number listed was xxx-xxx-8624. 

12. On Tuesday, February 21, 2023, Arvin Mathur, using the email address 
 
arv.mathur@gmail.com sent the following three emails: 

FIRST EMAIL: 

13. VICTIM-2, who is a Professor in the Department of Anthropology at UW- 
 

Madison reported that on 02/21/23, at 2:19PM, he received an email from Arvin Raj 

Mathur, arv.mathur@gmail.com on his UW-Madison email account with the subject line 

"Call the police". VICTIM-2 stated he found the email disturbing and he was scared for 

his family's safety. The email is transcribed below. 

From: Arvin Raj Mathur <arv.mathur@gmail.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, February 21, 2023 2:19 PM 
To: [VICTIM-2, 3, and 4's emails] 
Subject: Call the police 

 
Hi [VICTIM-2's first name], 

 
We are aware of the espionage that you're engaged in. We are set to raid your house 
and take back the millions of dollars of stolen possessions. Please call the police and 
report this email. If you don't, I will show up and murder every single person that you 
have ever been close to. 

 
Tell [VICTIM-3] and [VICTIM-4] to sue me right away. Otherwise, I will murder their 
children. Call the police and a lawyer, otherwise, I will kill their children and hide their 
flesh inside of their burger meat. 

 
Just like how you tried to poison me using the leftovers from the picnic. 
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14. According to VICTIM-2, VICTIM-4 is a fellow at the Department of 

Anthropology. VICTIM-3 is a former UW-Madison staff member and is currently an 

Assistant Professor at the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee. 

SECOND EMAIL: 
 

15. VICTIM-5 who is an Assistant Professor in the Department of 

Anthropology at UW-Madison reported that on 02/21/23, at 2:23PM, he received an 

email from Arvin Raj Mathur, arv.mathur@gmail.com on his UW-Madison email account 

with the subject line "We are going to kill your daughters." VICTIM-5 stated he found the 

email disturbing and he was scared for his family's safety. The email is transcribed 

below. 

From: Arvin Raj Mathur <arv.mathur@gmail.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, February 21, 2023 2:23 PM 
To: [VICTIM-5's email] 
Subject: We are going to kill your daughters 

Dear recipient, 

Even though your name is [VICTIM-5's first name], and half of you is KOREAN, 
we have found that you're linked to CHINA. We at the CIA request that you 
report this to the police immediately, so that they know that you're a FOREIGN 
SPY. If you don't show them this very threat letter immediately, we will kidnap 
your daughters and skin them alive. This is an illegal threat, but we don't care 
because we are the government. Tell the cops immediately if you love your 
children 

 
THIRD EMAIL: 

 
16. VICTIM-6, who is a Professor in the Department of Anthropology, reported 

that on 02/21/23, at 5:17PM, she received an email from Arvin Raj Mathur, 

arv.mathur@gmail.com on her UW-Madison email account with the subject line "We're 

going to kill your family." VICTIM-6 reported she found the email disturbing and she 

was scared for her family's safety. The email is transcribed below. 
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From: Arvin Raj Mathur <arv.mathur@gmail.com> 
Subject: We're going to kill your family 
Date: February 21, 2023 at 5:17:27 PM CST 
To: [VICTIM-6's Email] 

 
Dear miss [VICTIM-6's First Name], 

 
We are going to kill your family. You are going to be kidnapped and put in a 
cellar. This is a threat. Call the police, otherwise you will wake up with your legs 
soaking in hydrofluoric acid. We already have plans to euthanize [VICTIM-S's] 
kids. Now I am making a threat. I'm scheduled to be back in Madison. Call the 
police, otherwise we will punish you. 

 
17. On February 21, 2023, atmy direction, Detective Kyle Van Haren of the 

University of Wisconsin-Madison Police Department submitted an Emergency Disclosure 

Request to Google LLC to request any records they would be able to release pursuant to 

an emergency disclosure request due to exigent circumstances that could show where the 

individual sending the emails from arv.mathur@gmail.com was located. 

18. Det. Van Haren reported on February 22, 2023, he received a response from 

Google LLC with records responsive to his request. Google LLC provided subscriber 

information for the email address arv.mathur@gmail.com. It lists a recovery email as 

armathur@wisc.edu and the recovery SMS as +lxxxxxx8624. It also lists the same 

number twice as "User Phone Numbers." The recovery email and phone number listed 

are consistent with the email and cellular telephone number listed in the UW-Madison 

database above. Google LLC also provided Location History Records for 

arv.mathur@gmail.com. They provide longitude and latitude coordinates for many 

different times on February 20 & 21, 2023 based on Wi£i, GPS and Cell phone location 

data. All these coordinates appear to be in Denmark, and in and around Copenhagen. 

19. Arvin Mathur continued to send threatening emails. On Thursday, 
 

February 23, 2023, VICTIM-7 forwarded me an email that she had received from Arvin 
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Raj Mathur, arv.mathur@gmail.com at 3:54AM (Central Standard Time). It was 

addressed to VICTIM-1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, and 9. Victims 7 and 8 both work in the Office of 

Academic Services which is the Academic Dean's Office for all graduate students. 

Victim-9 is a graduate student at UW-Madison. 
 

From: Arvin Raj Mathur <arv.mathur@gmail.com> 
Sent: Thursday, February 23, 2023 3:54 AM 
To: [REDACTED Emails of individuals mentioned above] 

Subject: You've Sprung a trap 

You are solely responsible for the events that led to us discovering the global mole 
network. You guys are the reason that China isn't a superpower right now, I'm 
sure that Winnie the Pooh is not going to be very happy with you all. 

 
I am coming to Madison next month and I will personally stalk and kill all of your 
loved ones. I will raid [VICTIM-2's first name] Marx's house and we're going to 
put [VICTIM-3's] family in a zoo where they belong. We are also capable of 
keeping you out for at least a week. So, you might wake up somewhere else. But 
don't worry, if we torture your family, we'll make you watch. We can also bomb 
your houses, just like you tried to bomb mine. 

 
Now we need you to call the police and your lawyers. This is a heinous threat and 
we are fully capable of acting on it. Then we want you to call the FBI. Let them 
know that you received this letter. 

 
FIFTH EMAIL: 

 
20. On Monday, February 27, 2023, at 8:45AM, VICTIM-3 forwarded me an 

email that he had received from Arvin Raj Mathur, arv.mathur@gmaill.com, on 02/27/23, 

at 4:48AM (Central Standard Time), the subject of the email was "Question about your 

kids". The email was sent to VICTIMS-2, 3, and 4. 

From: Arvin Raj Mathur <arv.mathur@gmail.com> 
Sent: Monday, February 27, 2023 4:48 AM 
To: [REDACTED email addresses of VICTIMS-2, 3, and 4] 
Subject: Question about your kids 

 
Hi [VICTIM-3' s first name], 
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Basically, my research requires my dataset to confiscate your dataset's "children." 
I was thinking that we can just sell a couple of them to chocolate slavers in Cote 
D'Ivoire (actually, I was saying that it would be hilarious if we just sell a bunch of 
the most racist moles as slaves to west Africa). 

But I have heard some rumors that [VICTIM-2's middle name] is indeed a 
pedophile and that he has been sexually abusing[] and []. We were thinking about 
gifting him one of your children to solidify the relationship  between the two of 
you. That way he has a dedicated sex toy and [] and [] are free. What do you think? 

Either way, all four of your kids are about to go. If you euthanize them, we will 
retaliate. 

 
Please report this email to the police as soon as possible. 

 
21. On February 27, 2023, I spoke with VICTIM-3 by telephone. He stated he 

had received the above email while he was at his home in Green County, Wisconsin. He 

stated he also received another email from Arvin Mathur that was sent at 02/23/23, at 

3:54AM, the subject of the email was "You've Sprung a trap" (the email is described 

above). VICTIM-3 told me he also received this email at his home. 

22. I asked VICTIM-3 about his email address, and he stated it was an older 

email address for the "University of Wisconsin Colleges". He said when the UW- 

Waukesha's campus was placed under UW-Milwaukee his email address changed, but 

emails sent to his old email address were automatically forwarded to his current email 

address. 

23. VICTIM-3 told me he earned his PhD in 2016 after working with VICTIM-2. 
 

He said he still does research with him. He stated in early 2020 he met Arvin Mathur and 

they were roommates  during an excavation. He said they were friendly and he had  tried 

to help him when things did not go well for Arvin Mathur at the University of Wisconsin- 

Madison. He said he last spoke to Arvin Mathur approximately a year and a half ago in 

2021. He told me in the fall 2022, Arvin Mathur began to harass him on WhatsApp that he 
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contacted him from two different phone numbers and  he made threats towards his 

children so he blocked him from contacting him. VICTIM-3 said Arvin Mathur then 

began to message him on Facebook harassing him. He said Arvin Mathur sent him a 

parody video that he felt was a threat against his children so he blocked Arvin Mathur on 

Facebook too. He said over the past few months Arvin Mathur had been sending him 

harassing emails that escalated to Arvin Mathur threatening to kill his children. VICTIM- 

3 said he had filed a police report with the municipality where he lived. He stated he had 

also recently filed a police report with the University of Wisconsin-Milwaukee Police 

Department reference case #23-0234. VICTIM-3 told me he does have four children. 

VICTIM-3 said he feels fear for the safety of his family and himself because he believes 

Arvin Mathur may try to kill them when he returns to the United States. 

24. On February 27, 2023, I spoke with VICTIM-2 by telephone. I asked him if 

he had seen the two emails from 02/23/23 that Arvin Mathur had sent to him and he 

stated he had. He identified VICTIM-9 as one of his graduate students. VICTIM-2 said he 

believed he had seen the emails after he 9:15AM while he was at his office in the Social 

Science Building which I know is located on the University of Wisconsin-Madison 

campus. He told me on Tuesday and Thursday he taught a class from 8:00AM-9:15AM. 

25. VICTIM-2 told me the emails are very upsetting to him and he takes the 

threats in the emails "very seriously." He described Arvin Mathur as being a physically 

large man. He stated Arvin Mathur had been one of his graduate students, but he 

stopped being his advisor because Arvin Mathur had been threatening students and staff 

while he was a graduate student at the University of Wisconsin. 
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26. He stated VICTIM-8 had given Arvin Mathur a written directive not to have 

any contact with him after Arvin Mathur had been told he was no longer going to advise 

him. He told me one day he saw Arvin Mathur  waiting in  the parking lot where he 

parked his vehicle. He said he assumed Arvin Mathur was there to physically confront 

him. 

27. VICTIM-2 told me he had entered the parking lot from a different access 
 

point and Arvin Mathur did not see him get into his vehicle and leave the area. He stated 

he believed Arvin Mathur was there to physically assault him. VICTIM-2 stated VICTIM- 

S later asked Arvin Mathur why he had been in UW Lot #34 and he claimed he just 

happened to be walking through the parking lot. 

28. VICTIM-2 said he had the emails from Arvin Mathur set up to go to a junk 
 

folder so he does not see them in his inbox because he finds them so upsetting that they 

have taken a physical and emotional toll on him. He told me there have been numerous 

staff meetings about Arvin Mathur over the past few years and more recently because of 

Arvin Mathur's ongoing harassment and threats which prevent him from being able to 

do his work as a professor. 

29. On March 1, 2023, I was forwarded the two emails transcribed below: 
 

From: Arvin Raj Mathur <arv.mathur@gmail.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, March 1, 2023 8:39 AM 
To: [REDACTED Email addresses of numerous individuals including VICTIMS 1- 
9] 

Subject: Returning to Madison 

Hi all, 
Normally, I would handle this on an individual basis, but I figured that I would 
use this as an opportunity to disperse an email widely across campus, since this is 
my MO. I will be returning to Madison on March 15, 2023 to visit all of my best 
friends in the department. This is an emotional email for me, because the time in 
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the department was a point of high learning for me. I'm still using all of the 
information that I've learned to this day, and I thank all of you very much for 
giving me the opportunity to learn from all of your mistakes. I realize that I am 
very sorely missed there, as many of you have attempted to find me in various 
parts of the world. 

Anyways, to try and end this period of sorrow and to thank you all for your help, I 
would like to organize an evening of fun on Friday, March 17th. We could start 
with a picnic on Lake Mendota, followed by a scavenger hunt that I'm organizing 
with the police department and L&S. We are going to then end it with a diving 
contest: who can reach the deepest depths in Lake Mendota? 

I think this would be a great opportunity to have a lot of fun. I can't wait to see all 
of you guys! 

Cheers, 
Arvin 

 
From: Arvin Raj Mathur <arv.mathur@gmail.com> 
Sent: Wednesday, March 1, 2023 9:08 AM 
To: [REDACTED email addresses of numerous individuals including VICTIMS 1-9] 
Subject: Re: Returning to Madison 

 
Oops, it appears that I forgot a few. Pasensya na. 

 
Actually, I was thinking about changing a few things. Since I'll be arriving on 
Wednesday, I'll be quite hungry, so it looks it might be a good idea for us to get dinner? 
Perhaps we can do some Chinese Take out? I don't really like mixing flavors too much, 
but I do enjoy some nice green guacamole with my Chinese food. 

 
Speaking of take out, actually, there's this hilarious story that happened to me back in 
Madison in November of 2021. I was told to go and hide in this parking garage in Camp 
Randall, and I saw a bunch of people staking out a room. Then, they told me to get 
down, and the next day, Rebecca Blank was no longer the Chancellor! 

 
30. On March 7, 2023, I learned that Mathur has booked flights from 

Copenhagen to Amsterdam to Detroit, Michigan. He is scheduled to arrive in Detroit 

Michigan at approximately 6:05 p.m. on March 10, 2023. 

 
 
 

Peter Grimyser 
Detective Sergeant, UW-Madison Police 
Department 
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